REVIEW

How to measure somaclonal variation

G.-J. DE KLERK

Central Research Laboratory for Tissue Culture of Horticultural Crops, PO Box 85, 2160 AB Lisse, The Netherlands

CONTENTS

Introduction	129
Somaclonal and epigenetic variation	130
Origins and causes	131
Practical aspects of somaclonal variation	133
Assessment of the extent of somaclonal variation	
Measurements on the phenotypic level	134
Numerical chromosome variation	135
Structural chromosome variation	138
DNA restriction fragments	138
Electrophoresis patterns of proteins and isozymes	139
Conclusions	140

Key-words: genetic instability, micropropagation, regeneration, somaclonal variation, tissue culture.

INTRODUCTION

Plants are generated by a series of cell divisions in meristematic tissues. The apical meristem is formed during the early stages of embryogenesis and consists of two outer cell layers $(L_1 \text{ and } L_2 \text{ or tunica})$ and the inner body $(L_3 \text{ or corpus})$. Axillary meristems originate from the apical meristem and have the same histogenic arrangement (Reeve 1948). New apical meristems can also be formed adventitiously from somatic cells in many types of tissues. However, plants generated by the outgrowth of such adventitious meristems are often genetically different from the original plant. The term 'somaclonal variation' was introduced to describe the genetic variation in plants regenerated from any form of cell culture (Larkin & Scowcroft 1981). The term has been adopted widely, but is used in various senses, especially in practical discussions (Soh 1987). In the present article 'somaclonal variation' indicates (i) genetic variation in plants originating from adventitious meristems (usually formed *in vitro* by various cell types, such as somatic cells in organs, cells in callus or single cell cultures, and germ cells), and (ii) genetic variation in cell and callus cultures themselves.

Somaclonal variation constitutes a major problem in present-day micropropagation and is one of the great stumbling blocks for micropropagation via somatic embryos. It also impedes the application of biotechnological breeding techniques. The effects of biological (genotype, explant type), medium (plant growth regulators) and physical (duration of culture) factors on somaclonal variation have been noted, but so far basic knowledge is fragmentary and only a few general principles have emerged. In the study of somaclonal variation, the absence of a straightforward, rapid assay to measure its extent is a major obstacle (Orton 1983b). Reviews on somaclonal variation focus on its potential for breeding (Larkin & Scowcroft 1981; Evans 1989), on cytological aspects (Bayliss 1980; Lee & Phillips 1988; Pijnacker & Sree Ramulu 1990) or on its origins and causes (Orton 1983a; Karp & Bright 1985; Gould 1986; Sree Ramulu 1987). In the present paper, I will discuss methods to assess the extent of somaclonal variation (page 134). First, brief overviews are given on backgrounds (pages 130 and 131) and on practical aspects (page 133).

SOMACLONAL AND EPIGENETIC VARIATION

In plants regenerated from tissue culture, all kinds of genetic variation have been observed, namely, changes in DNA sequence (point mutations, activation of transposons), in chromosome structure (duplications, translocations) and in chromosome number (leading to polyploidy or aneuploidy). In addition to somaclonal variation, epigenetic (i.e. non-genetic) variation also occurs frequently (Binns 1981; Meins 1983). The main difference between epigenetic and somaclonal variation is that somaclonal variation is transmitted during meiosis whereas epigenetic variation is not. Other differences are that, (i) epigenetic variation is reversible during the life of a plant, whereas somaclonal variation is not; (ii) somaclonal variation only occurs in plants generated from adventitious meristems, whereas epigenetic variation is observed both in these plants and in plants originating from outgrowth of pre-existing apical/axillary meristems; and (iii) epigenetic variation is predictable, whereas somaclonal variation is not (i.e. the same conditions will usually result in the same type of epigenetic variation, but not in the same type of somaclonal variation). Finally, (iv) epigenetic variation is a physiological response and is therefore in one direction (or more accurately, epigenetic variation follows a dose-response curve). Just as with spontaneous mutations, the direction of somaclonal variation is supposed to be entirely random with reference to the functional or adaptive value (cf. contemporary evolutionary theory, e.g. Stebbins 1982). In consequence, a trait affected by somaclonal variation may change in different regenerated plants into opposite directions. It should be noted, however, that because most mutations are deleterious, somaclonal variation will, as a rule, be in the direction of decreased vigour, decreased yield, etc. (Johnson et al. 1984; Lee et al. 1988; Jackson & Dale 1989), and therefore also in one direction only.

The difference between both types of variation is not an all or nothing phenomenon but a matter of degree; DNA methylation, for example, is transmitted through meiosis but is also reversible (Holliday 1987). Similarly, changes of the ploidy level leaving the chromosome number euploid, and directed DNA rearrangements (as in the case of mating-type switching in yeast, Binns 1981) might not be considered a genuine mutation of the genome. Furthermore, in contrast to (iii) mentioned above, the same mutation may occur independently in many regenerated plants because of the presence of mutation-sensitive regions in the chromosomes.

It should be noted that somaclonal variation occurs on top of spontaneous mutations. The number of point mutations occurring under natural conditions is probably specific for chromosome regions. During tissue culture of maize, the frequency of nucleotide substitution in the Adh1-1S allele (1 in 10²) was found to be 10 000 times higher than the spontaneous mutation rate (Dennis *et al.* 1987). For animal tissues, until recently it was

thought that the mutation rate per locus was 1 in 10^6 , but the actual rate is likely to be 1 in 10^5 (Neel 1983).

ORIGINS AND CAUSES

Mericlones, i.e. plants originating from the outgrowth of non-adventitious meristems, are true to type; somaclonal variation is only observed in plants originating from adventitious meristems (Hussey 1983). Thus, genetic stability is maintained in meristems, but is partly lost in non-meristematic tissue. Accordingly, genetic instability occurs from the time a cell leaves the apical/axillary meristem up to the formation of a new adventitious meristem. It is not known what portion of the mutations occurs *in planta* prior to the tissue-culture phase ('pre-existing variation') and what portion during tissue culture.

A number of hypotheses have been put forward to explain the increase of genetic instability in non-meristematic tissue.

Number of cell divisions. Obviously, the number of mutations is proportional to the number of cell divisions between the zygotes of two subsequent generations. In agreement with this, genetic variation increases with prolonged culture (Orton 1985; Armstrong & Phillips 1988; Hartmann *et al.* 1989). It is, however, unlikely that the larger part of this increase is due to prolonged culture: Gould (1986) conservatively estimated the number of cell divisions between two generations of zygotes in plants to be 30; in a suspension culture sub-cultured every week there are three divisions each week (Gould 1986). It is unlikely that the increased frequency of mutations in tissue culture (in the case of *Adh1* in maize 10 000-fold higher, Dennis *et al.* 1987) is due to the 'extra' cell divisions.

Mutagenic substances. It has been assumed that medium components, especially certain plant growth regulators, are mutagenic (e.g. Vajrabhaya 1977; George & Sherrington 1984). The reason for this is that at high concentrations $(50 \text{ mg } 1^{-1})$ 2,4-dichlorophenoxy-acetic acid (2,4-D) and naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA) cause chromosomal aberrations (Bayliss 1980). At concentrations used in tissue culture (<10 mg 1^{-1}), though, no such aberrations have been observed (review in Bayliss 1980). Moreover, in an assay for chemical mutagens (colour mutants in stamen hairs of *Tradescantia*) none of the medium components tested (2,4-D, NAA and benzylaminopurine, all at approximately 1 mg 1^{-1} , and nutrients) caused an increase in the frequency of mutations (Dolezel & Novak 1984). Bayliss (1980) concludes that 2,4-D does not have a direct mutagenic effect but causes abnormalities indirectly by stimulating disorganized growth.

Response to stress. Conventionally, the genome is considered to be a stable entity. More recently, however, evidence has accumulated to suggest that the genome is actually in a continuous flux with changes occurring in both mitotic and meiotic cycles (Walbot & Cullis 1985). These changes may concern all of the genome, leading for example to polyploidy, or only a portion of the genome, resulting in amplification or reduction of certain parts. Cullis (1981) observed that the genome of flax undergoes changes supposedly aimed at adaptation to the new conditions. McClintock (1984) has advocated the view that when plants are exposed to an environmental stress that lies beyond their capacity to adapt by epigenetic changes, they may enter a state of 'genome shock' that

activates transposons and thereby brings about rapid evolutionary changes. Tissue culture is envisaged as a form of stress and would therefore result in similar genomic changes. In flax, it was found that plants regenerated from callus and plants under environmental stress show variation in the same subsets of highly repeated sequence families (Cullis & Cleary 1986). This suggests that at least part of the genetic variation in tissue culture is caused by stress and forms part of an adaptive strategy. To some extent in contradiction with this view, Heindorff *et al.* (1987) reported that stress pre-treatment of *Vicia faba* root meristems renders these meristems less susceptible to mutagenic treatment.

Directed developmental changes in chromosomes. In plants, development is accompanied by a range of directed changes in nuclear DNA (Altamura *et al.* 1987; Cavallini *et al.* 1988). It might also be that during the induction and/or growth of callus such directed chromosomal changes occur. Plants regenerated from somatic or callus cells with a changed genetic composition are likely to differ genetically from the original plant and resemble the genome of the somatic or callus cells. Recently, Pijnacker *et al.* (1989) have shown that the degree of polyploidization of callus cultures is indeed correlated with the degree of polyploidization in the explant. It has been suggested that because of these chromosomal alterations, mitotic fidelity is difficult to achieve (Sree Ramulu 1987).

Meristematic versus non-meristematic tissues. In animals, the germ line is a group of cells often derived from a specialized region of the zygote. The cells of the germ line are inactive in the somatic body of the animal (Walbot 1985). When plants reach the reproductive stage, the microsporogenic and megasporogenic cells are formed from the apical and axillary meristems. So, in plants these meristems function as the germ lines. From an evolutionary point of view, germ cells must have a balance between copying the parent genome and mutations, allowing an infrequent occurrence of the latter. As genetic stability in the meristems is a prerequisite for such balance, plants must have developed mechanisms in meristems for faithful mitotic division, for repair of DNA, and for removal of cells with a disadvantageous genotype (Klekowski & Kazarinova-Fukshansky 1984). In non-meristematic tissues, such control processes presumably occur to a much lesser extent. The specific nature of cell divisions in meristems is indicated by the finding that the durations of the various phases of the cell cycle are very different in apical meristems and in tissue and cell culture (Gould 1984). Lee & Phillips (1988) proposed that the disturbance of the cell cycle causes a delay in the replication of DNA in heterochromatic regions (which normally replicate late). This would initiate a cascade of events eventually resulting in all types of observed genetic changes. Orton (1979, 1980) observed that the extent of chromosomal variation in callus tissue depends on the type of callus: hard, nodular, slowly growing calli are more stable than friable, growth-uncentralized, rapidly growing calli. Similar observations have been made by Geier (1988). In hairy-root cultures of Nicotiana rustica and Beta vulgaris, chromosome number and secondary metabolite production are stable, whereas cell suspensions are very variable (Aird et al. 1988). This demonstrates that stability is not only maintained in apical and axillary meristems, but also in root meristems.

In the dicotyledons, the sporocytes (both the micro- and megasporocytes) originate from the second cell layer (L_2). In monocotyledons, the megasporocytes originate from L_2 and the microsporocytes from L_2 or L_2 and L_3 (D'Amato 1977). This suggests that a high level of genetic stability is only maintained in L_2 and possibly in L_3 . It might be that in mericlones the genetic stability is not maintained when the structure of the meristem is disturbed. Disorganized meristems are frequently observed in tissue culture (Varga *et al.* 1988).

PRACTICAL ASPECTS OF SOMACLONAL VARIATION

In their influential review, Larkin & Scowcroft (1981) advocate the view that somaclonal variation represents a new source of variability and therefore constitutes a powerful tool for the breeder, especially in combination with a mutagenic treatment and selection *in vitro*. Although the use of somaclonal variation has been successful in this respect, in general the original promises have not been fulfilled and at present it is becoming increasingly clear that somaclonal variation is usually undesirable.

First, in micropropagation of various ornamental crops, namely orchids, anthurium, lily and African violet, the produced plants show aberrations which are, at least in part, due to somaclonal variation. In The Netherlands, the losses exceed US\$1 million per year. In most micropropagated crops, somaclonal variation is avoided by micropropagation via axillary buds. However, even then adventitious buds are often formed without notice (Marcotrigiano *et al.* 1987). In addition, micropropagation via somatic embryos in liquid medium, which is a cheap, automatable alternative for present-day methods, is hampered by, among others, the occurrence of somaclonal variation.

Secondly, in most biotechnological breeding techniques plants are regenerated from genetically engineered somatic cells. So, biotechnologically engineered plants are subject to somaclonal variation. The same holds for haploid plants. Undesirable mutations can be removed by strong selection and by incorporation of the regenerated plants in breeding programmes where the desired trait can be separated from the undesirable mutations. Such breeding programmes, however, are in practice not possible for crops with a long generation cycle (trees), for crops which are propagated vegetatively (potato, many ornamentals) and, because of the high costs, for crops from which the number of plants per cultivar is relatively small (many ornamentals). In addition, some undesirable mutations will not be recognized immediately and will therefore not be removed. Such hidden deleterious mutations include recessive mutations, which can only be recognized in the progeny of selfed plants (Malepszy & Nadolska-Orczyk 1989), mutations in genes that are expressed exclusively during certain developmental stages or under specific environmental conditions, and mutations that result in small changes of quantitative traits. Oil palms, for example, show abnormalities only after several years of culture in the field; moreover, in the same clone the plantings of the second and especially the third year show abnormalities but not the plantings of the first year (Corley et al. 1986; it is not clear whether the observed aberrations are somaclonal or epigenetic). A similar situation occurs for a spontaneous mutation of Adh in maize. Adh is not necessary during normal aerobic growth but as Adh confers flood resistance, mutations will have a negative effect when the seedling or the roots of the adult plant are flooded (Schwartz 1969). Small changes in quantitative traits due to tissue culture have been noted. They are apparent from an increased coefficient of variation for quantitative traits in the progeny of a selfed regenerated plant (Jackson & Dale 1989). Such small changes will not be recognized readily, but may have large economic effects.

Thirdly, somaclonal variation also affects the production of secondary plant substances by cell cultures, thereby reducing the production by well-established cultures (Deus-Neumann & Zenk 1984). From the data and hypotheses mentioned earlier, various rules can be derived to cope with somaclonal variation. it is advisable to avoid adventitious meristems. When this is not possible, the adventitious meristems should be induced directly on the explant or the callus interphase should be kept short. In the latter case, 'organized' callus should be selected and friable callus discarded. In genetic engineering, stable genotypes should be used for the introduction of new genes into a crop (it has been shown that various genotypes of one species show large differences in the extent of somaclonal variation, Nagarajan & Walton 1987). The explant used to initiate a culture should consist of young tissue, preferably apical or axillary meristems.

Vasil *et al.* (1983) suggested that plants generated from adventitious embryos are more true to type than plants from adventitious buds. There are, however, various reports describing no or even a negative effect of somatic embryogenesis (Karp & Maddock 1984; Linacero & Vazquez 1986; Armstrong & Phillips 1988). It has been proposed that the optimal conditions during tissue culture enable mutated cells to reproduce and eventually to generate plants. Minimal medium could select against mutated cells and plants regenerated from minimal medium would accordingly be more true to type. However, a minimal medium actually increases the number of aberrant plants as compared with an optimal medium (Orton 1986).

ASSESSMENT OF THE EXTENT OF SOMACLONAL VARIATION

For the development of methods to counteract or avoid somaclonal variation, it is necessary to carry out careful and critical studies as to the effect of various parameters on the extent of somaclonal variation. Examinations have been carried out on the phenotypic and the cytological/molecular levels. In evolutionary studies, it has been observed that the magnitude of a phenotypic change is usually not correlated with the magnitude of the underlying genetic change (for review see Paigen 1986; Patterson 1987). As in horticultural and agricultural practice only the phenotype counts, the correspondence between changes at the phenotypic and at the cytological/molecular level should be considered.

The extent of somaclonal variation is usually determined as the percentage of plants which show one or more qualitative aberrations, for example, the percentage of aneuploid and polyploid plants, or the percentage of plants with distinct morphological alterations such as dwarfism, albinism and aberrant leaf shape. Alternatively, as in somaclonal populations a greater spread of quantitative traits is observed relative to the control (Karp & Bright 1985), the value of the standard deviation (SD) for a trait in a somaclonal population indicates the extent of somaclonal variation. This method has been described in a concomitant communication (De Klerk *et al.* 1990a). A significantly larger value of the SD has been noted in other papers (Wang & Holl 1988; Jackson & Dale 1989; Zheng *et al.* 1989) and can be derived from many articles (Engler & Grogan 1984; Larkin *et al.* 1984; Evans *et al.* 1986; Novak *et al.* 1986; Chen *et al.* 1987).

In the following sections, I will first discuss the assessments of somaclonal variation on the phenotypic level. Subsequently, I will deal with observations on the cytological/ molecular levels and their correlation with the phenotypic level.

Measurements on the phenotypic level

The effect of somaclonal variation on the level of the phenotype is usually determined as the percentage of plants that show aberrations for one or more defined characteristics (Lee & Phillips 1987; Lourens & Martin 1987). Two other approaches have been published.

First, studies are carried out with plants bred to be heterozygous for heritable marker traits. Consequently, for these traits mutations are immediately detectable. Armstrong & Phillips (1988) found that in regenerated maize plants various marker traits are not affected by somaclonal variation, whereas there are distinct aberrations in chromosome number and structure. Similarly, Graybosch *et al.* (1987) observed no mutations in six marker genes in regenerated soybean plants. In alfalfa both cytological alterations and shifts in the expression of marker traits occur (Groose & Bingham 1984). In tobacco protoplast culture followed by regeneration, instability was found for two marker genes (Barbier & Dulieu 1983). Groose & Bingham (1986) used an anthocyanin mutation, previously recovered from tissue culture, to study reversion. They found a high frequency of reversion (22%) *in vitro* but a very small frequency (<1%) *in planta*. The high frequency indicates the involvement of a transposable element.

Secondly, De Klerk *et al.* (1990a) propose to assess the degree of variation in a somaclonal population by determining the value of the SD for a quantitative trait. In the regenerated plants themselves, this should be a trait that is not affected by epigenetic variation. Preferably, the mean value of the trait should be the same for the somaclonal and the control populations. De Klerk *et al.* (1990a) have used the leaf shape (expressed as the natural logarithm of the ratio of the longest rib and its longest perpendicular rib) of regenerated plants of *Begonia* × *hiemalis* as such a parameter. They found that plants regenerated from callus induced at a high concentration of 2,4-D ($1 \text{ mg } 1^{-1}$) have a significantly higher SD than plants regenerated from callus induced at a low 2,4-D concentration ($0 \cdot 1 \text{ mg } 1^{-1}$). There is no effect on the ratio itself. (As noted above, the effect of 2,4-D is likely to be indirect by stimulating disorganized growth.) Wang & Holl (1988) found an increased value of the SD for the leaf shape (length–width ratio) in a somaclonal population of *Trifolium pratense*, but they also observed an increased SD in plants generated from axillary buds.

Because somaclonal variation renders the genome more heterozygous, a sample of plants originating from one selfed regenerated plant should display a greater spread than a control sample. Accordingly, Jackson & Dale (1989) reported an increased SD for various quantitative traits in families originating from selfed regenerated plants of *Lolium temulentum* (Fig. 1). They did not observe alterations for chromosome number, chromosome structure, and patterns of four isozyme systems, indicating that the 'SD-assay' is very sensitive. An increased value of the SD for various traits was also noted by Zheng *et al.* (1989) in regenerated rice plants.

The advantages of the quantitative SD-assay over the qualitative assays are (i) for each determination the number of plants needed is smaller (20–30 instead of 100), (ii) the observation of these parameters does not depend upon the eye of the observer, (iii) in a short period of time many individuals can be evaluated, and (iv) the SD-assay seems to be much more sensitive.

Numerical chromosome variation

Chromosome numbers are determined by chromosome counts in mitotic cells (in regenerated plants usually in the root tips), by measurement of the DNA content per cell (either by a cytophotometric determination after Feulgen staining or by flow cytometry), by chloroplast counts in stomatal guard cells, or by measuring stomatal size. The latter two methods are the easiest, albeit not always accurate (see Sree Ramulu *et al.* 1983); the other methods are laborious. With regard to chromosome counts in root tips, it is important to note that the roots are formed mostly adventitiously on shoots and that this may affect the



Fig. 1. Five plants of *Lolium temulentum* were regenerated from callus and selfed. In the five families of R_2 -plants (R_2 is the progeny of the selfed regenerated plants) and in a control group, various quantitative traits were determined and the coefficients of variations calculated. (Based on data from Jackson & Dale 1989.)

determination of the chromosome number. As the regeneration of shoots acts as a screen against cytological mutant cells (Browers & Orton 1982b; Natali & Cavallini 1987), so the subsequent regeneration of roots will act as a second and different screen (because both the medium conditions and the types of tissue from which the primordia originate, are different for shoots and roots). In agreement with this, large differences exist in rooting capacity between euploid and aneuploid shoots (Fish & Karp 1986). Consequently, changing the rooting conditions will affect the percentage of observed aberrations.

Changes of the chromosome number are the genetic changes observed earliest in tissue culture (Mitra *et al.* 1960) and in plants regenerated from tissue culture (Sacristán & Melchers 1969). These changes have been reviewed at length (Bayliss 1980; Lee & Phillips 1988). By determining the chromosome number, the effects of the genotype (Browers & Orton 1982a; Nagarajan & Walton 1987), of medium composition (Fish & Karp 1986; Creissen & Karp 1985; Sree Ramulu *et al.* 1983), of the type of tissue (Browers & Orton 1982a; O'Connell *et al.* 1986; Sree Ramulu *et al.* 1986; Wersuhn & Sell 1988) and of the length of culture (Orton 1985; Natali & Cavallini 1987; Franklin *et al.* 1989) on the degree of somaclonal variation in callus tissues and regenerated plants have been studied.

It has been observed that plants with an aberrant chromosome number have an altered phenotype. However, such plants may also have a normal phenotype and plants with the correct chromosome number may have an aberrant phenotype (Fig. 2) (Liu & Chen 1976; Creissen & Karp 1985; Fish & Karp 1986; Gill *et al.* 1986; Maddock & Semple 1986; Sree Ramulu *et al.* 1986; Chen *et al.* 1987; Jackson & Dale 1989; Osifo *et al.* 1989). Sree Ramulu (1987; Table 3) found for three somaclonal populations that the percentage of plants with an aberrant chromosome number is not correlated with the percentage of plants with phenotypic aberrations.

Discrepancies between chromosomal and phenotypic data are also observed in evolutionary studies. In angiosperms, the genome size varies between less than 1 pg to well



Fig. 2. Potato plants were regenerated from protoplasts. For plants with an aberrant chromsome number (aneuploid and aneusomatic) and for plants with the correct chromosome number (tetraploid), the percentages of plants with an aberrant phenotype are shown. In the regenerated plants several morphological characters were scored (vigour, leaf shape, branching, etc.) and three classes of plants were recognized: without changes (normal looking; \Box), with variation in 1–3 characters (few changes; \boxtimes) and with variations in >3 characters (several changes; \blacksquare). (Based on data from Sree Ramulu *et al.* 1986.)

over 100 pg DNA per diploid nucleus, but there is no correlation between DNA content and organismic complexity (Walbot & Cullis 1985; Vedel & Delseny 1987; Price 1988). This phenomenon is widely observed in evolution and is referred to as the 'C-paradox'. The differences in DNA content are caused by a change of the ploidy, by increase of repeated sequences and by duplications of parts of the genome (Walbot & Cullis 1985). The number of genes is probably the same among the angiosperms. In Nicotiana (4 pg DNA per diploid cell; Vedel & Delseny 1987), this number has been estimated at approximately 15 000 (Goldberg et al. 1978), i.e. about 0.6% of the genome. The larger part of the variation in the size of the genome has apparently no major effect on these 15 000 genes. Two hypotheses have been put forward to explain why there is such a surplus of DNA and why this surplus varies. As the amount of DNA is correlated with ecological factors, especially with the duration of the growing season, DNA quantity itself may be of adaptive significance (Price 1988). Alternatively, it has been suggested that a very large portion of DNA is not functional but parasitic (Orgel & Crick 1980). The intra- and interspecific variation of DNA content is highly relevant for the understanding of somaclonal variation. It should be noted here that mutations in the genome of a diploid plant species (e.g. maize) differ from mutations in a polyploid species because of the buffering capacities of the extra chromosomes in the latter.

In conclusion, large chromosomal changes occur in plants and have only a small effect on the phenotype. In mammals, the situation is very different. All mammals have a genome size of 4–5 pg DNA per diploid cell. This is not caused by different evolutionary ages, as the evolution of the angiosperms started some 120 million years ago and that of the mammals about 80 million years ago (Stebbins 1982). Moreover, only few chromosomal abnormalities are tolerated in animals. These differences indicate that data on mutations obtained from mammals cannot be transferred to the angiosperms.



Fig. 3. Maize plants were regenerated from two types of callus after 16 or 36 weeks of culture. Type I callus was maintained in medium without proline and selected for organogenic growth. Type II callus was maintained in medium with 25 mm proline and selected for friable, embryogenic growth. The four groups of plants were examined for aberrant chromosome number and structure, and for phenotypic aberrations. For the four groups, the percentages of phenotypically aberrant plants were plotted against the corresponding percentages of plants with aberrant chromosomes. The regression line is shown; the correlation is not significant. (Based on data from Armstrong & Phillips 1988.)

Structural chromosome variation

It has been observed that in regenerated plants with the correct chromosome number, many plants show structural chromosomal changes (Lee & Phillips 1988). The detection of alterations of the chromosomal structure is very laborious and consequently not suitable for a routine assay. In addition, as in the case of chromosomal numbers, phenotypically aberrant plants may have the same chromosome structure and vice versa (Armstrong & Phillips 1988). From the data presented by Armstrong & Phillips (1988) a slight, but statistically non-significant correlation between changes in chromosome structure and number, and phenotypic changes can be deduced (Fig. 3).

DNA restriction fragments

Many authors have examined changes in restriction fragments of mitochondrial DNA (Breiman *et al.* 1987; Hartmann *et al.* 1989; Shirzadegan *et al.* 1989), chloroplast DNA (Day & Ellis 1985; Shirzadegan *et al.* 1989), introduced T-DNA (Peerbolte *et al.* 1987), nuclear DNA sequences coding for specific proteins (Brettell *et al.* 1986a; Breimann *et al.* 1987; Dennis *et al.* 1987), or nuclear ribosomal DNA and other repeated DNA sequences (Cullis & Cleary 1986; Brettell *et al.* 1986b; Breiman *et al.* 1987; Karp *et al.* 1987). As the nuclear genome is far more complex than organelle DNA (Vedel & Delseny 1987) and as the chloroplast DNA is relatively stable both in evolution and in tissue culture (Palmer & Stein 1986; Shirzadegan *et al.* 1989), most studies have been carried out on mitochondrial DNA. These studies have only rarely been aimed at establishing the effect of tissue culture conditions on somaclonal variation. For mitochondrial DNA, Hartmann *et al.* (1989) found that the extent of change depends on the length of the tissue culture period.

Only a few times has the relationship with phenotypic changes been noted. Albino plants were found to have mutated chloroplast DNA (Day & Ellis 1985). Regenerated potato plants deficient in nuclear ribosomal DNA genes (75% reduction of 25S ribosomal DNA) have the same phenotype as control plants (Landsmann & Uhrig 1985). Incidentally, Cullis & Charlton (1981) reported a deamplification of ribosomal DNA under stress in flax.

In evolutionary studies, descent trees have been constructed based on differences in DNA sequences and differences in morphology. In an excellent study on inbred strains of laboratory mice, Fitch & Atchley (1987) observed that these trees do not correspond at all (the tree based on molecular data reflects the correct phylogeny). This shows again that the magnitude of mutations at the molecular level does not correspond well with the magnitude of morphological change and that assays on the molecular level should be examined very critically for their correlation with morphological changes.

Electrophoresis patterns of proteins and isozymes

The genetic stability of cultured tissues or regenerated plants is often examined through isozyme patterns (Orton 1980; O'Connell *et al.* 1986; Karp *et al.* 1987; Kobayashi 1987; Maheswaran & Williams 1987). Furthermore, electrophoretic patterns of seed storage proteins have been examined in regenerated plants with the aim of improving the nutritive value of seeds (Larkin *et al.* 1984; Maddock *et al.* 1985; Cooper *et al.* 1986; but also see Metakosky *et al.* 1987). Data from these studies should be interpreted with care.

First, when the regenerated plants themselves are examined, it may be that epigenetic factors affect the patterns. This has probably been the case in a study by Allicchio *et al.* (1987), who claim somaclonal variation for esterase isozymes in regenerated potato plants. They reported a new esterase isozyme at the same position on the gel in three out of eight regenerated plants. It is very unlikely, however, that the same mutational event occurs three times. Rather, either the plants had originated from one cell in which the mutation had taken place, or the extra band was due to an epigenetic change. For an assay based on isozymes, systems should be chosen that are expressed very stably during the development of a plant and that are not affected much by environmental factors. Peroxidase isozymes are frequently examined in these studies (Heinz & Mee 1971; Maheswaran & Williams 1987). However, the amount of various peroxidases is strongly dependent on the physiological conditions and on the developmental status. For example, in micropropagated *Malus* shoots, which outwardly all look the same, the activity of basic peroxidases varies 12-fold (De Klerk *et al.* 1990b).

Secondly, in an excellent study, Orton (1985) examined celery plants that were heterozygous for five isozymes. After 12 months of culture, he did not observe a single change in the isozymes in 50 callus clones originating from these plants. For chromosome structure and number, though, there were gross shifts in all but one of 40 callus cells examined.

Thirdly, there is no relationship between the change of isozyme patterns and morphological changes (Heinz & Mee 1971, see Fig. 4; the same can be derived from data of Sanford *et al.* 1984; Wang & Holl 1988; Jackson & Dale 1989). In agreement with this, a study in maize revealed that the extent of morphological differences between five lines is not correlated with qualitative differences between two-dimensional protein patterns, but with quantitative differences (Damerval *et al.* 1987). From this, it can be derived that in an assay of somaclonal variation based on isozyme or protein electrophoresis, the patterns should be compared not for the absence or presence of specific bands, but for the amount of protein per band. To date, such a study has not been made in regenerated plants.



Fig. 4. Sugarcane plants were regenerated from callus and examined for four isozyme systems (amylase, peroxidase, glutamic oxalacetic transaminase, and esterase), and for phenotypic aberrations. For plants with changed isozyme patterns (a) and for plants with unaltered isozyme patterns (b), the numbers of plants with an aberrant (\square) or normal phenotype (\bigotimes) are shown. (Based on data from Heinz & Mee 1971.)

CONCLUSIONS

Plants generated from adventitious buds often show genetic variation ranging from point mutations to numerical chromosome changes. A large portion of this so-called 'somaclonal variation' is deleterious to the performance of the plants. Because the regeneration of adventitious meristems is one of the key steps in biotechnological breeding and propagation methods, somaclonal variation may turn out to be one of the main stumbling blocks in the practical application of these methods. To develop protocols for avoiding and/or counteracting somaclonal variation and to understand its backgrounds, a simple assay of somaclonal variation is needed. Such an assay may be on the phenotypic or on the molecular/cytological level.

On the phenotypic level, the extent of somaclonal variation is usually assessed by determining the percentage of aberrant plants. This assay has at least three disadvantages. First, it is necessary to evaluate a large number of plants for each determination (at least 100). If, for example, the effect of five auxin concentrations on somaclonal variation is examined, it will be necessary to culture and judge 5×100 regenerated plants. Secondly, the measurements should preferably be made in the adult progeny of selfed, regenerated plants. So, in most cases the actual measurements will be far more than 1 year after the start of tissue culture. Thirdly, for many traits the evaluation of qualitatively aberrant plants depends upon the eye of the observer.

Somaclonal variation has also been determined on the molecular and cytological levels. Most of these determinations are laborious. As they are only qualitative, it is also necessary to determine the percentage of aberrant plants and, consequently, to examine large numbers of plants. Just as in evolutionary studies (Paigen 1986; Patterson 1987) and in studies on cultivars (Damerval *et al.* 1987), no good correlation exists between the extent of mutations at these levels and phenotypic changes. An advantage of these methods (with the exception of isozyme patterns), however, is that the determination can be made shortly after the start of the tissue culture period in the regenerated plants themselves. A second advantage is that the measurements are objective.

It is suggested in this article and in a concomitant paper (De Klerk *et al.* 1990a), that the value of the SD of quantitative phenotypic traits in a somaclonal population may be an accurate measurement of the extent of somaclonal variation. Such an assay has several advantages, namely, its sensitivity, the small number of plants needed in each somaclonal population (20–30) and the objectivity of the quantitative parameters. However, in the regenerated plants themselves epigenetic factors might disturb the measurements. An assay based on the value of the SD is corroborated by many data in the literature (e.g. Jackson & Dale 1989; Zheng *et al.* 1989), but has not yet been examined thoroughly.

An assay for somaclonal variation can be used, and is actually indispensable for several purposes. First, as somaclonal variation has been found to depend on the genotype, stable genotypes may be selected for genetic engineering and propagation via somatic embryos. Secondly, such an assay will allow the development of protocols that minimize variability. Thirdly, by identifying the factors that have an effect on variability, such an assay will enable the study of the mechanisms underlying somaclonal variation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Drs Han Bouman and Rob Bogers for the reading of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Aird, E.L.H., Hamill, J.D. & Rhodes, M.J.C. (1988): Cytogenetic analysis of hairy root cultures from a number of plant species transformed by Agrobacterium rhizogenes. Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Culture 15: 47-57.
- Allicchio, R., Antonioli, C., Graziani, L., Roncarati, R. & Vannini, C. (1987): Isozyme variation in leafcallus regenerated plants of Solanum tuberosum. *Plant Sci.* 53: 81-86.
- Altamura, M.M., Bassi, P., Cavallini, A., et al. (1987): Nuclear DNA changes during plant development and the morphogenetic response in vitro of Nicotiana tabacum tissues. Plant Sci. 53: 73–79.
- Armstrong, C.L. & Phillips, R.L. (1988): Genetic and cytogenetic variation in plants regenerated from organogenic and friable, embryogenic tissue cultures of maize. *Crop Sci.* 28: 363–369.
- Barbier, M. & Dulieu, H. (1983): Early occurrence of genetic variants in protoplast cultures. *Plant Sci. Lett.* 29: 201–206.
- Bayliss, M.W. (1980): Chromosomal variation in plant tissues in culture. Int. Rev. Cytol. 11A: 113-144.
- Binns, A.N. (1981): Developmental variation in plant tissue culture. *Env. Exptl Bot.* 21: 325–332.
- Breiman, A., Rotem-Abarbanell, D., Karp, A. & Shaskin, H. (1987): Heritable somaclonal variation in wild barley (*Hordeum spontaneum*). Theor. Appl. Genet. 74: 104-112.
- Brettell, R.I.S., Dennis, E.S., Scowcroft, W.R. & Peacock, W.J. (1986a): Molecular analysis of a

somaclonal mutant of maize alcohol dehydrogenase. Mol. Gen. Genet. 202: 235-239.

- —, Pallotta, M.A., Gustafson, J.P. & Appels, R. (1986b): Variation at the Nor loci in triticale derived from tissue culture. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 71: 637-643.
- Browers, M.A. & Orton, T.J. (1982a): A factorial study of chromosomal variability in callus cultures of celery (*Apium graveolens*). Plant Sci. Lett. 26: 65-73.
- & (1982b): Transmission of gross chromosomal variability from suspension cultures into regenerated celery plants. J. Hered. 73: 159–162.
- Cavallini, A., Cremonini, R., Cionini, G. & Cionini, P.G. (1988): Polysomatic and somatic reduction in *Phaseolus coccineus L. Genome* 30: 671–676.
- Chen, T.H.H., Lazar, M.D., Scoles, G.J., Gusta, L.V. & Kartha, K.K. (1987): Somaclonal variation in a population of winter wheat. J. Plant Physiol. 130: 27-36.
- Cooper, D.B., Sears, R.G., Lookhart, G.L. & Jones, B.L. (1986): Heritable somaclonal variation in gliadin proteins of wheat plants derived from immature embryo callus culture. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 71: 784– 790.
- Corley, R.H.V., Lee, C.H., Law, I.H. & Wong, C.Y. (1986): Abnormal flower development in oil palm clones. *Planter* 62: 233–240.
- Creissen, G.P. & Karp, A. (1985): Karyotypic changes in potato plants regenerated from protoplasts. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Culture* 4: 171–182.

- Cullis, C.A. (1981): Environmental induction of heritable changes in flax: defined environments inducing changes in rDNA and peroxidase isozyme band pattern. *Heredity* 47: 87–94.
- & Charlton, L. (1981): The induction of ribosomal DNA changes in flax. *Plant Sci. Lett.* 20: 213–217.
- & Cleary, W. (1986): DNA variation in flax tissue culture. Can. J. Genet. Cytol. 28: 247-251.
- D'Amato, F. (1977): Nuclear Cytology in Relation to Development. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Damerval, C., Hébert, Y. & De Vienne, D. (1987): Is the polymorphism of protein amounts related to phenotypic variability? A comparison of twodimensional electrophoresis data with morphological traits in maize. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 74: 194-202.
- Day, A. & Ellis, T.H.N. (1985): Deleted forms of plastid DNA in albino plants from cereal anther culture. *Curr. Genet.* 9: 674–678.
- De Klerk, G.J., Ter Brugge, J. & Bouman, H. (1990a): An assay to measure the extent of variation in micropropagated plants of *Begonia hiemalis*. Acta Bot. Neerl. 39: 145-151.
- --, --, Smulders, R. & Benschop, M. (1990b): Basic peroxidases and rooting in microcuttings of *Malus*. *Acta Hortic*. (in press).
- Dennis, E.S., Brettell, R.I.S. & Peacock, W.J. (1987): A tissue culture induced Adh1 null mutant of maize results from a single base change. Mol. Gen. Genet. 210: 181–183.
- Deus-Neumann, B. & Zenk, M.H. (1984): Instability of indole alkaloid production in *Catharanthus* roseus cell suspension cultures. *Planta Medica* 47: 427–431.
- Dolezel, J. & Novak, F.J. (1984): Effect of plant tissue culture media on the frequency of somatic mutations in *Tradescantia* stamen hairs. Z. Pflanzenphysiol. 114: 51-58.
- Engler, D.E. & Grogan, R.G. (1984): Variation in lettuce plants regenerated from protoplasts. J. Hered. 75: 426–430.
- Evans, D.A. (1989): Somaclonal variation—genetic basis and breeding applications. *Trends Genet.* 5: 46-50.
- Evans, N.E., Foulger, D., Farrer, L. & Bright, S.W.J. (1986): Somaclonal variation in explant-derived potato clones over three tuber generations. *Euphytica* 35: 353–361.
- Fish, N. & Karp, A. (1986): Improvements in regeneration from protoplasts of potato and studies on chromosome stability. 1. The effect of initial culture media. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 72: 405–412.
- Fitch, W.M. & Atchley, W.R. (1987): Divergence in inbred strains of mice: a comparison of three different types of data. In: Patterson C. (ed.): *Molecules and Morphology in Evolution: Conflict or*

Compromise?201–216. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- Franklin, C.I., Mott, R.L. & Vuke, T.M. (1989): Stable ploidy levels in long-term callus cultures of loblolly pine. *Plant Cell Rep.* 8: 101–104.
- Geier, T. (1988): Ploidy variation in callus and regenerated plants of *Anthurium scherzerianum* Schott. *Acta Hortic.* 226: 293–298.
- George, E.F. & Sherrington, P.D. (1984): Plant Propagation by Tissue Culture. Exceptics, Eversley.
- Gill, B.S., Kam-Morgan, L.N.W. & Shepard, J.F. (1986): Origin of chromosomal and phenotypic variation in potato protoclones. J. Hered. 77: 13–16.
- Goldberg, R.B., Hoschek, G. & Kamalay, J.C. (1978): Sequence complexity of nuclear and polysomal RNA in leaves of the tobacco plant. *Cell* 14: 123– 131.
- Gould, A.R. (1984): Control of the cell cycle in cultured plant cells. CRC Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 1: 315-344.
- Graybosch, R.A., Edge, M.E. & Delannay, X. (1987): Somaclonal variation in soybean plants regenerated from cotyledonary node tissue culture system. *Crop Sci.* 27: 803–806.
- Groose, R.W. & Bingham, E.T. (1984): Variation in plants regenerated from tissue culture of tetraploid alfalfa heterozygous for several traits. *Crop Sci.* 24: 655–658.
- & (1986): An unstable anthocyanin mutation recovered from tissue culture of alfalfa (*Medicago* sativa). I. High frequency of reversion upon reculture. Plant Cell Rep. 5: 104–107.
- Hartmann, C., Henry, Y., De Buyser, J., Aubry, C. & Rode, A. (1989): Identification of new mitochondrial genome organizations in wheat plants regenerated from somatic tissue cultues. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 77: 169–175.
- Heindorff, K., Rieger, R., Schubert, I., Michaelis, A. & Aurich, O. (1987): Clastogenic adaptation of plant cells—reduction of the yield of clastogeninduced chromatid aberrations by various pretreatment procedures. *Mutation Res.* 181: 157–171.
- Heinz, D.J. & Mee, G.W.P. (1971): Morphologic, cytogenetic, and enzymatic variation in Saccharum species hybrid clones derived from callus tissue. Am. J. Bot. 58: 257-262.
- Holliday, R. (1987): The inheritance of epigenetic defects. Science 238: 163–170.
- Hussey, G. (1983): In vitro propagation of horticultural and agricultural crops. In: Mantell, S.H. and Smith, H. (eds): *Plant Biotechnology*. 111–138. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- Jackson, J.A. & Dale, P.J. (1989): Somaclonal variation in Lolium multiflorum L. & L. temulentum L. Plant Cell Rep. 8: 161-164.
- Johnson, L.B., Stuteville, D.L., Schlarbaum, S.E. & Skinner, D.Z. (1984): Variation in phenotype and chromosome number in alfalfa protoclones regenerated from non-mutagenized calli. Crop Sci. 24: 948-951.
- Karp, A. & Bright, S.W.J. (1985): On the causes and origins of somaclonal variation. Oxford Surv. Plant Mol. Cell Biol. 2: 199–234.
- & Maddock, S.E. (1984): Chromosome variation in wheat plants regenerated from cultured immature embryos. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 67: 249–255.
- --, Steele, S.H., Parmar, S., Jones, M.G.K., Shewry, P.R. & Breiman, A. (1987): Relative stability among barley plants regenerated from cultured immature embryos. *Genome* 29: 405-412.
- Klekowski, E.J. & Kazarinova-Fukshansky, N. (1984): Shoot apical meristems and mutation: selective loss of disadvantageous cell genotypes. Am. J. Bot. 71: 28–34.
- Kobayashi, S. (1987): Uniformity of plants regenerated from orange (*Citrus sinensis* Osb.) protoplasts. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 74: 10-14.
- Landsmann, J. & Uhrig, H. (1985): Somaclonal variation in Solanum tuberosum detected at the molecular level. Theor. Appl. Genet. 71: 500-505.
- Larkin, P.J., Ryan, S.A., Brettell, R.I.S. & Scowcroft, W.R. (1984): Heritable somaclonal variation in wheat. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 67: 443–455.
- & Scowcroft, W.R. (1981): Somaclonal variation a novel source of variability from cell cultures for plant improvement. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 60: 197– 214.
- Lee, M., Geadelmann, J.L. & Phillips, R.L. (1988): Agronomic evaluation of inbred lines derived from tissue cultures of maize. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 75: 841–849.
- & Phillips, R.L. (1987): Genetic variants in progeny of regenerated maize plants. Genome 29: 834–838.
- & (1988): The chromosomal basis of somaclonal variation. Ann. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 39: 413–437.
- Linacero, R. & Vazquez, A.M. (1986): Somaclonal variation in plants regenerated from embryo calluses in rye (Secale cereale L.). In: Horn, W., Jensen, C.J., Odenbach, W. and Schieder, O. (eds): Genetic Manipulation in Plant Breeding. 479–481. W. de Gruyter, Berlin.
- Liu, M.-C. & Chen, W.-H. (1976): Tissue and cell culture as aids to sugarcane breeding. 1. Creation of genetic variation through callus culture. *Euphytica* 25: 393–403.
- Lourens, A.G. & Martin, F.A. (1987): Evaluation of in vitro propagated sugarcane hybrids for somaclonal variation. Crop Sci. 27: 793-796.

- McClintock, B. (1984): The significance of responses of the genome to challenge. *Science* 226: 792–801.
- Maddock, S.E. & Semple, J.T. (1986): Field assessment of somaclonal variation in wheat. J. Exp. Bot. 37: 1065–1078.
- —, Risiott, R., Parmar, S., Jones, M.G.K. & Shewry, P.R. (1985): Somaclonal variation in the gliadin patterns of grains of regenerated wheat plants. J. Exp. Bot. 36: 1976–1984.
- Maheswaran, G. & Williams, E.G. (1987): Uniformity of plants regenerated by direct somatic embryogenesis from zygotic embryos of *Trifolium repens*. *Ann. Bot.* 59: 93–97.
- Malepszy, S. & Nadolska-Orczyk, A. (1989): In vitro culture of Cucumis sativus. VIII. Variation in the progeny of phenotypically not altered R₁ plants. Plant Breeding 102: 66–72.
- Marcotrigiano, M., Morgan, P.A., Swartz, H.J. & Ruth, J. (1987): Histogenic instability in tissue culture-proliferated strawberry plants. J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci. 112: 583-587.
- Meins, F. (1983): Heritable variation in plant cell culture. Ann. Rev. Plant Physiol. 34: 327–346.
- Metakovsky, E.V., Novoselskaya, A. Yu. & Sozinov, A.A. (1987): Problems of interpreting results obtained in studies of somaclonal variation in gliadin proteins in wheat. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 73: 764-766.
- Mitra, J., Mapes, M.O. & Steward, F.C. (1960): Growth and organized development of cultured cells. IV. The behavior of the nucleus. Am. J. Bot. 47: 357-368.
- Nagarajan, P. & Walton, P.D. (1987): A comparison of somatic chromosomal instability in tissue culture regenerants from *Medicago media* Pers. *Plant Cell Rep.* 6: 109–113.
- Natali, L. & Cavallini, A. (1987): Nuclear cytology of callus and plantlets regenerated from pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) meristems. *Protoplasma* 141: 121-125.
- Neel, J.V. (1983): Frequency of spontaneous and induced 'point' mutations in higher eukaryotes. J. Hered. 74: 2-15.
- Novak, F.J., Hermelin, T., Daskalov, S. & Nesticky, M. (1986): In vitro mutagenesis in maize. In: Horn, W., Jensen, C.J., Odenbach, W. and Schieder, O. (eds): Genetic Manipulation in Plant Breeding. 563– 576. W. de Gruyter, Berlin.
- O'Connell, M.A., Hosticka, L.P. & Hanson, M.R. (1986): Examination of genome stability in cultured *Lycopersicon. Plant Cell Rep.* 5: 276–279.
- Orgel, L.E. & Crick, F.H.C. (1980): Selfish DNA: the ultimate parasite. *Nature* 284: 604–607.
- Orton, T.J. (1979): A quantitative analysis of growth and regeneration from tissue cultures of *Hordeum* vulgare, H. jubatum, and their interspecific hybrid. Env. Exptl Bot. 19: 319-335.

- —(1980): Chromosomal variability in tissue cultures and regenerated plants of *Hordeum*. Theor. Appl. Genet. 56: 101-112.
- -- (1983a): Genetic variation in somatic tissues: method or madness. Adv. Plant Pathol. 3: 153-189.
- (1983b): Experimental approaches to the study of somaclonal variation. *Plant Mol. Biol. Rep.* 1: 67-76.
- (1985): Genetic instability during embryogenic cloning of celery. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Culture* 4: 159–169.
- (1986): Case histories of genetic variability in vitro: celery. In: Vasil, K. (ed.): Cell Culture and Somatic Cell Genetics of Plants. 3: 345–366. Academic Press, Orlando.
- Osifo, E.O., Webb, J.K. & Henshaw, G.G. (1989): Variation amongst callus-derived potato plants, Solanum brevidens. J. Plant Physiol. 134: 1-4.
- Paigen, K. (1986): Gene regulation and its role in evolutionary process. In: Karlin, S. and Nevo, E. (eds): *Evolutionary Process and Theory*. 3–36. Academic Press, Orlando.
- Palmer, J.D. & Stein, D.B. (1986): Conservation of chloroplast genome structure among vascular plants. *Curr. Genet.* 10: 823–833.
- Patterson, C. (1987): Introduction. In: Patterson, C. (ed.): Molecules and Morphology in Evolution: Conflict or Compromise? 1-22. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Peerbolte, R., Ruigrok, P., Wullems, G. & Schilperoort, R. (1987): T-DNA rearrangements due to tissue culture: somaclonal variation in crown gall tissues. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 9: 51-57.
- Pijnacker, L.P., Sree Ramulu, K., Dijkhuis, P. & Ferwerda, M.A. (1989): Flow cytometric and karyological analysis of polysomaty and polyploidization during callus formation from leaf segments of various potato genotypes. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 77: 102-110.
- & (1990): Somaclonal variation in potato: a karyotypic evaluation. Acta Bot. Neerl. 39: 163– 169.
- Price, H.J. (1988): Nuclear DNA content variation within angiosperm species. *Evol. Trends Plants* 2: 53-60.
- Reeve, R.M. (1948): The 'tunica-corpus' concept and development of shoot apices in certain dicotyledons. Am. J. Bot. 35: 65-75.
- Sacristán, M.D. & Melchers, G. (1969): The caryological analysis of plants regenerated from tumorous and other callus cultures of tobacco. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 105: 317-333.
- Sanford, J.C., Weeden, N.F. & Chyi, Y.S. (1984): Regarding the novelty and breeding value of protoplast-derived variants of Russet Burbank (Solanum tuberosum L.). Euphytica 33: 709-715.

- Schwartz, D. (1969): An advantage of gene fixation resulting from selective advantage in suboptimal conditions. Am. Nat. 103: 479–481.
- Shirzadegan, M., Christey, M., Earle, E.D. & Palmer, J.D. (1989): Rearrangement, amplification, and assortment of mitochondrial DNA molecules in cultured cells of *Brassica campestris. Theor. Appl. Genet.* 77: 17-25.
- Soh, A.C. (1987): Abnormal oil palm clones. Possible causes and implications: further discussions. *Planter* 63: 59–65.
- Sree Ramulu, K. (1987): Genetic instability during plant regeneration in potato: origin and implications. *Plant Physiol. (Life Sci. Adv.)* 6: 211–218.
- —, Dijkhuis, P. & Roest, S. (1983): Phenotypic variation and ploidy level of plants regenerated from protoplasts of tetraploid potato (Solanum tuberosum L. cv. 'Bintje'). Theor. Appl. Genet. 65: 329–338.
- --, --, Bokelmann, G.S. & de Groot, B. (1986): Variation in phenotype and chromosome number of plants regenerated from protoplasts of dihaploid and tetraploid potato. *Plant Breeding* 97: 119–128.
- Stebbins, G.L. (1982): Darwin to DNA, Molecules to Humanity. W.H. Freeman and Company, San Francisco.
- Vajrabhaya, T. (1977): Variation in clonal propagation. In: Orditti, J. (ed.): Orchid Biology. 179–201. Cornell University Press, Ithaca.
- Varga, A., Thoma, L.H. & Bruinsma, J. (1988): Effects of auxins on epigenetic instability of calluspropagated Kalanchoe blossfeldiana Poelln. Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Culture 15: 223-231.
- Vasil, I.K., Vasil, V., Lu, C.Y., Ozias-Akins, P., Haydu, Z. & Wang, D.Y. (1983): Somatic embryogenesis in cereals and grasses. In: Earle E.D. and Demarly, Y. (eds): Variability in Plants Regenerated from Tissue Culture. 3-21. Pracger, New York.
- Vedel, F. & Delseny, M. (1987): Repetitivity and variability of higher plant genomes. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 25: 191–210.
- Walbot, V. (1985): On the life strategies of plants and animals. *Trends Genet.* 1: 165–169.
- & Cullis, C.A. (1985): Rapid genomic changes in higher plants. Ann. Rev. Plant Physiol. 36: 367-396.
- Wang, H. & Holl, F.B. (1988): In vitro culture and the incidence of somaclonal variation in regenerated plants of Trifolium pratense L. Plant Sci. 55: 159– 167.
- Wersuhn, G. & Sell, B. (1988): Numerical chromosomal aberrations in plants regenerated from pollen, protoplasts and cell cultures of *Nicotiana tabacum* L. cv. 'Samsun'. *Biol. Zent.bl.* 107: 439-445.
- Zheng, K.-L., Zhou, Z.-M., Wang, G.-L., Luo, Y.-K. & Xiong, Z.-M. (1989): Somatic cell culture of rice cultivars with different grain types: somaclonal variation in some grain and quality characters. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Culture* 18: 201-208.